Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021 SECOND EDITION

TECHNICAL PAPER

Jora Broerse & Rosemary Calder





About us

The Mitchell Institute for Education and Health Policy at Victoria University is one of the country's leading education and health policy think tanks and trusted thought leaders. Our focus is on improving our education and health systems so more Australians can engage with and benefit from these services, supporting a healthier, fairer and more productive society.

The Australian Health Policy Collaboration is led by the Mitchell Institute at Victoria University and brings together health organisations and chronic disease experts to translate rigorous research to inform policy addressing significant health issues in the population. The national collaboration has developed health targets and indicators for preventable chronic diseases tailored to achieving reduced health impacts of chronic conditions on the Australian population.

Acknowledgements

This project has been partially funded by the Australian Government Department of Health.

This report is the technical report to the *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021* policy paper. The authors acknowledge the commitment and detailed contributions of expert working group members to *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021*.

Acknowledgement of Country

Mitchell Institute acknowledges, recognises and respects the Ancestors, Elders and families of the Boonwurrung, Wadawurrung and Wurundjeri of the Kulin who are the traditional owners of University land in Victoria, and the Gadigal and Guring-gai of the Eora Nation who are the traditional owners of University land in Sydney.

Suggested citation

Broerse, J, Calder, R. Getting Australia's Health on Track: Technical Paper. Australian Health Policy Collaboration, Technical Paper 03-2021 Mitchell Institute, Victoria University. July 2021.

ISBN: 978-0-6488001-7-0

Table of contents

Table of contents	2
Abbreviations	3
Data sources	4
Introduction	5
Revision process 2021 edition	6
Targets and indicators	7
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander groups data	11
Validation	11
Technical appendix format	11
Technical details policy briefs	17
Healthier diets	18
Health levy: Reduce sugary drinks consumption	18
Protect children from unhealthy food marketing	19
Reduce salt	21
Healthier living	22
Reduce harm from alcohol	22
Reduce smoking	23
Increase physical activity	24
Mental ill-health	27
Reduce biomedical risk factors	29
Cardiovascular disease screening	29
References policy report card	31
References technical appendix	44

Abbreviations

AATSIHS	Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Survey
AHPC	Australian Health Policy Collaboration
AHS	Australian Health Survey
AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Welfare
BMI	Body Mass Index
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease of 2019
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
EWG	Expert working group
NATSIHS	National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Survey
NCD	Noncommunicable disease
NDSHS	National Drug Strategy Household Survey
NHS	National Health Survey
PHIDU	Public Health Information Development Unit, Torrens University Adelaide
PPA	Priority policy action
SES	Socioeconomic status
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organization

Data sources

The following data sources are referenced in this report:

- Australian Health Survey 2011-12, by Australian Bureau of Statistics
- National Health Survey 2014-15, by Australian Bureau of Statistics
- National Health Survey 2017-18, by Australian Bureau of Statistics
- Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey, 2012-13, by Australian Bureau of Statistics
- National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey 2018-19, by Australian Bureau of Statistics
- National Drug Household Survey 2010, by Australian Institute for Health and Welfare
- National Drug Household Survey 2014, by Australian Institute for Health and Welfare
- National Drug Household Survey 2019, by Australian Institute for Health and Welfare

List of tables

able 1 Targets and indicators proposed for implementation in Australia as presented in Targets and Indicators			
for Chronic Disease Prevention 2019.	р. 8		
Table 2 The table key presents trends in the right direction (green), no/limited progress (yellow), and poor progress (red).	р. 11		
Table 3 Overview priority policy actions presented in Getting Australia's on track editions 2016 and 2021.	р. 12		

Introduction

This technical report is a companion and reference tool for the *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021* policy paper.

The Mitchell Institute at Victoria University is a leading education and health policy think tank focussed on improving equity of opportunity and outcomes in health and education for individuals and communities in Australia through the translation of evidence to policy and practice. The Institute has a strong focus on addressing the impacts of socio-economic disadvantage on health and education opportunity and outcomes.

The health program at the Mitchell Institute explores health policy challenges, seeking to advance policy reform and to contribute to improved health outcomes. The health program is focussed on chronic disease prevention, which has been identified as the biggest problem facing Australia's health system.

The Australian Health Policy Collaboration (the Collaboration) is led by the Institute and brings together health organisations and chronic disease experts to translate rigorous research into good policy that will prevent and reduce the impact of chronic diseases on the population. The Collaboration (AHPC) was established in 2014 with the aim of informing and influencing health and other public policy to embed prevention into the health system and services and into other areas of public policy that directly contribute to or adversely affect good health. The work of the Collaboration since then and has provided leadership and consensus based policy evidence, information and guidance to a whole of population approach in policies, funding, institutional arrangements and service models to better prevent and manage chronic diseases in Australia.

The Collaboration established a Blueprint for Preventive Action (2014) with three strategic priorities:

- Driving health behaviours and healthy environments
- Creating accountability for action and monitoring progress
- Generating community support for action on prevention.

Creating accountability was identified as the first area for attention and the Collaboration worked through 2015 to establish health targets and indicators for preventable chronic diseases to influence policies, services and practice to target prevention and reduction of the health impacts of chronic conditions on the Australian population. The targets align with the 2025 global targets for prevention and reduction of chronic diseases set by the World Healh Organisation (WHO).

Building on this work, the Collaboration has contributed to the following influential publications:

- <u>Targets and Indicators for Chronic Disease Prevention in Australia</u> 2015, 2019
- Australia's Health Tracker 2016, 2019

- <u>Australia's Health Tracker by Area</u>
- <u>Getting Australia's Health on Track: Priority policy actions for a healthier</u> <u>Australia</u>, 2016 and 2021
 - Heart Health: the first step to getting Australia's health on track, 2017
 - Active Travel: Pathways to a healthy future, 2018
 - <u>Better Data for Better Decisions: the case for an Australian Health</u> <u>Survey</u>, 2018
- Australia's Health Tracker by Socio-Economic Status 2016 and 2021
- Australia's Oral Health Tracker
- Australia's Mental and Physical Health Tracker
- Australia's Gender Tracker

Targets and Indicators for Chronic Disease Prevention in Australia and Australia's Health Tracker and other Health Tracker reports are designed to be updated periodically in response to national data collections such as the Census and the national health survey (1,2). These informed <u>Getting Australia's Health on Track 2016</u>, which presents a suite of 10 evidence-based priority policy proposals tailored to enabling improvements in population health that will meet the health targets set by the Collaboration experts. Following release of *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2016*, a series of policy implementation papers, *Heart Health 2017; Active Travel 2018 and Better Data for Better Decisions 2018* were developed with Collaboration experts to provide detailed information on effective implementation of the policy proposals.

Revision process 2021 edition

Following the updated 2019 Targets and Indicators for Chronic Disease Prevention and Australia's Health Tracker publications, *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021* reviewed and updated the priority policy actions identified in the 2016 edition. The expert working groups considered the following options:

- 1. Affirm/strengthen 2016 priority policy actions;
- 2. Affirm/strengthen 2016 policy actions and identify an additional priority for policy action; or
- 3. Establish a new priority policy actions.

Seven expert working groups (EWGs) were established in early 2021 to review the 2016 Getting Australia's Health on Track report. These groups follow-on from the seven groups which developed the policy priorities in the first report and are: Premature mortality and morbidity, Alcohol, Physical Inactivity, Salt, Tobacco, Obesity, and Mental Health.

A few changes in the EWGs were applied in the second edition. In 2021, diabetes was moved from the Obesity working group to the Premature Mortality group. In the 2016 edition, reduction of salt was a priority policy action presented by the Premature Mortality group, in the new edition, priority policy actions on salt reduction were moved from the Premature Mortality group to a dedicated Salt EWG.

This edition of Getting Australia's Health on Track also is intended to inform and support implementation of the forthcoming National Preventive Health Strategy that is to be released during 2021.

Targets and indicators

The targets presented in the *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021* and this technical report were identified by the AHPC in *Targets and Indicators for Chronic Disease Prevention in Australia* (2015 and updated in 2019). These reports adopted 2025 as the target year for most chronic disease prevention targets with 2010 as the baseline year, except where otherwise indicated. This approach is in line with the WHO Global Action Plans.

The targets are supported by indicators, also presented in Targets and Indicators for Chronic Disease Prevention in Australia 2019. In considering targets and indicators, the Australian Health Policy Collaboration and colleagues used Australian Institute of Health and Welfare criteria which state that chronic disease indicators must:

- be relevant;
- be applicable across population groups;
- be technically sound (valid, reliable, sensitive (to change over time) and robust);
- be feasible to collect and report;
- lead to action (at various population levels, for example, individual, community, organization/agency);
- be timely; and
- be marketable.

Table 1 presents the targets and indicators proposed for implementation for Australia to meet the accompanying 2025 targets.

Table 1 Targets and indicators proposed for implementation in Australia as presented in Targets and Indicators for Chronic Disease Prevention 2019.

Framework Element	Proposed Australian target	Proposed Australian indicators
Mortality and morbi	idity	
Premature mortality from noncommunicable disease	1. 25% reduction in the overall mortality from cardiovascular diseases, cancer, chronic respiratory diseases and diabetes	 Unconditional probability of dying between ages of 30 and 70 years from cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory diseases Age-standardised rates of unplanned admission for patients aged between 30 and 70 years admitted to hospital with a primary diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory diseases Age-standardised rates of unplanned readmission for patients aged between 30 and 70 years admitted to hospital with a primary diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory diseases Age-standardised rates of unplanned readmission for patients aged between 30 and 70 years admitted to hospital with an initial primary diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory diseases
	a. 25% reduction in the overall mortality from cardiovascular diseases and diabetes	 Unconditional probability of dying between ages of 30 and 70 from cardiovascular diseases Unconditional probability of dying between ages of 30 and 70 from diabetes Age-standardised average blood pressure among patients with chronic kidney disease, and percent of adults aged 18 years or more with elevated blood pressure (≥ 140/90 mmHg)
	 b. 25% reduction in the overall mortality from chronic respiratory diseases c. Elimination of asthma deaths in adults aged under 65 years 	 Unconditional probability of dying between ages of 30 and 70 from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease Unconditional probability of dying between ages of 30 and 70 from asthma Percent of patients aged 30-70 years who are readmitted within 28 days of discharge following a hospital admission related to asthma or COPD
	d. 25% reduction in the overall mortality from cancer	 Unconditional probability of dying between ages of 30 and 70 from cancer One-year survival rates for individuals diagnosed with the following cancers (individual indicators): lung, breast, colorectal, cervix, melanoma and prostate
	e. Reduction in the	The suicide rate as an age-standardised rate per 100,000 population

8

	national suicide rate by 10% by 2020 ¹	
Behavioural risk fac	ctors	
Harmful use of alcohol	 2. At least 20% relative reduction in the harmful use of alcohol, with regard to: Long-term risky drinking 	• Long-term risky drinking: Proportion of the population (aged 15+) reporting average alcohol consumption of more than two standard drinks per day over the past year.
Physical inactivity	3. A 10% relative reduction in prevalence of insufficient physical activity	 Prevalence of insufficiently physically active children and adolescents aged 5–17 years defined as less than 60 minutes of activity daily Prevalence of insufficiently physically active adults aged 18+ is based on a physical activity recommendation of 150 minutes from five or more sessions per week. (Updated guidelines have removed the sessions requirement and thus the baseline prevalence and WHO target will need to be updated according to estimates based on the new guidelines.)
Salt/sodium intake	4. A 30% relative reduction in mean population intake of salt/sodium	 Age-standardised mean population intake of sodium expressed as salt grams per day
Tobacco use	5. A 30% relative reduction in prevalence of current tobacco use in persons aged 14+ years	 Adults: Age-standardised prevalence of daily smokers aged 14 years and older from National Drug Strategy Household Survey (NDSHS)

¹ WHO set targets and indicators relevant to mental health in the WHO Global Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020, which contains six global targets and indicators for achievement by 2020

Biological risk facto	ors	
Raised blood Pressure	6. A 25% relative reduction in the prevalence of raised blood pressure	 Age-standardised average blood pressure and percent of adults aged 18 years or more with elevated blood pressure (≥ 140/90 mmHg) (also group 1)
Diabetes and obesity	7. Halt the rise in obesity8. Halt the rise in diabetes	 Age-standardised prevalence of normal weight, overweight and obesity class I, II, III in persons 18 years or older (also group 1) Prevalence of normal weight, overweight and obesity in children and adolescents (also group 1) Age-standardised proportion of total energy intake from discretionary foods in persons aged 18 years or older and in children (2–17 years) Prevalence of breastfeeding and exclusive breastfeeding Age-standardised incidence and prevalence of diabetes in persons 25–65yrs Use of HbA1c ≥ 6.5% in addition to fasting blood glucose <<u>7.0 mm/L or</u> taking blood glucose lowering medications as a tool for the early diagnosis of type 2 diabetes
Mental ill-health		
Mental ill-health	Improve employment rates of adults over 18 living with mental illness, and participation rates of young people with mental illness in education and employment, halving the employment and education gap by 2025	 Participation rates by people with mental illness of working age in employment: general population. Participation rates by young people aged 16-30 living with mental illness in education and employment: General population

Note: indicators in bold were regarded as core by the morbidity and mortality working group

Table key

The priority policy actions presented in this report are designed to meet the targets presented in Table 1. Each target area compares the most recent and relevant data with the baseline year to determine good, no/limited, or poor progress towards the targets. The three levels of progress are captured in the table key (Table 2).

The progress towards the Australian targets set for 2025 are illustrated by three options. In some instances, there is no comparable or updated data sources available in which case the keys are not included.

If the most recent data demonstrate an improvement from the baseline year this is shown as positive progress towards the target and presented in green except where otherwise indicated.

If the most recent data does not demonstrate an improvement from the baseline year, it is assessed as no or limited progress towards the set target and indicated by a yellow icon.

The red icon indicates poor progress towards the target.



Table 2 The table key presents trends in the right direction (green), no/limited progress (yellow), and poor progress (red).

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population data

In line with previous AHPC reports, this report draws from the most recent national health statistics for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population groups. When comparing data from Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians, differences in ages and survey questions must be considered.

Validation

The data included in the report card builds on the data presented in the *Australia's Health Tracker 2019* and are reviewed by expert working group members of the *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021*. For Australia's Health Tracker 2019, PHIDU compiled the relevant data and undertook data analysis. The Mitchell Institute takes responsibility for the final publication, its content and data as reported.

Technical report format

This technical report follows the structure in *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021* and provides the the health statistics presented in the policy paper.

Table 3 Overview priority policy actions presented in Getting Australia's on track editions 2016 and 2021.

Focus	Prio	rity Policy Actions (PPAs)	Changes second edition
	PPAs 2016	Introduce a 20% health levy (flat-rate valoric tax) on sugar-sweetened beverages. Implement restrictions on exposure of children (under 16 years of age) to unhealthy food and drink marketing on free-to-air television up to 9pm.	The Obesity EWG affirmed and strengthened the two 2016 PPA. The health levy is now advised in the form of tiered based on sugar content replacing the flat-rate
Healthier diets	PPAs 2021	 Introduce a 20% health levy (tiered based on sugar content) on sugar-sweetened beverages. Implement comprehensive and consistent national regulations to significantly reduce the exposure of children and young people under 18 years to the marketing of unhealthy food and beverages and related brands on television up until 9:30pm, on digital platforms at any time, in outdoor spaces, on product packaging and in relation to in-store marketing. National legislation is required to achieve effective and immediate reduction of sodium intake through mandatory large-scale reformulation of processed foods. A national public health strategy is required to promote potassium as a sodium substitute in discretionary salt and in salt used by manufacturers in processed food. The strategy should address the needs of priority populations and be funded to evaluate population-wide impact of these measures. 	valoric tax) and the marketing channels of unhealthy foods and drinks are extended to beyond TV advertisement. The Obesity EWG recommends a detailed implementation and evaluation plan of the National Obesity Strategy. The reduction of salt PPA is recommended by a dedicated Salt EWG. In the 2016 policy paper, salt was included in consideration of Heart Health by the Premature mortality group.
om alcohol	PPAs 2016	 Increase the current excise for all alcohol by 10%. Apply consistent volumetric tax pricing – including wine, cider and other fruit- based alcohol products – at a rate for wine halfway between full-strength draught beer rate and the spirits rate, and for cider below 6% alcohol at the rate for draught beer, and for cider with 6% alcohol or above, at the rate for wine. 	The 2016 PPAs focused on price changes to reduce harm caused by alcohol, in particular risky drinking. In 2021, the EWG members
Reduce harm from alcohol	PPAs 2021	 Policy priority actions listed on priority Replace the Wine Equalisation Tax (WET) with a volumetric tax so it is consistent with taxation of other alcohol. Restrict late supply and concentrated supply by preventing alcohol sales after 3am and providing local communities with more control over alcohol outlet density. Alcohol delivery should be restricted to between 10am and 10pm and should require a minimum of 2 hours between order and delivery. 	agreed on a more diverse set of PPAs including volumetric tax (reformulated 2016 PPA), restriction of late and concentrated supply and investment in evidence-based school-based alcohol prevention

		 Invest in development and evaluation of evidence-based school-based alcohol prevention programs. 	programs.
Reduce smoking	PPAs 2016	 Mass media campaigns Mass media campaigns should be funded to achieve a population reach and frequency proven to reduce smoking prevalence across Australia. Some campaigns should be designed specifically to provide culturally relevant messages for aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. Funding for the campaigns could be supported from tobacco tax revenue (estimated at over \$10 billion for the current year) – a move that attracts strong support from public opinion polls. 	The 2021 EWG affirmed the 2016 PPAs and strengthened the dual focus on funding mass media campaigns that is inclusive and salient to priority populations (thereby going beyond the sole focus on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples).
		 Reduce health disparities Increase funding for mass media campaigns to ensure they can effectively reach and influence people from disadvantaged groups. Incorporating smoking cessation into routine care. Ensuring smoke-free legislation is well implemented. Where appropriate, incorporating smoking cessation targets in government funding agreements. 	 The group agreed on two additional PPA's. 1) The group agreed that smoking cessation should be included in all usual routine health care. Removal of cigarette filters was considered by the group.
	PPAs 2021	 Mass media smoking cessation campaigns should be funded and conducted to evidence-based levels under the National Tobacco Strategy to reach all Australians. They must be inclusive of and salient to priority populations. This is fundamental to ensuring Australia meets its national smoking prevalence target and prevents avoidable illness and premature deaths. Smoking cessation treatment must be embedded in all routine healthcare with adequate resourcing, including funding support for evidence-based and tailored support services for priority populations. Smoking cessation policy and practice guidelines should be embedded in Hospital Quality Standards and PHN Commissioning Standards and guidelines. Mass media campaigns should include public health information about the harmful impact of cigarette filters in support of the objectives of the plain packaging legislation to further reduce uptake of smoking and minimise misconceptions about the relative harms of different tobacco products. 	Additives in cigarette filters have been shown to encourage uptake and continuation of smoking. On available evidence, an additional PPA therefore proposes the inclusion of public health information about the harmful impact of cigarette filters.

Increase physical activity	PPAs 2021 PPAs 2016	 Implement a framework for national physical activity and invest in the local implementation of active travel initiatives to and from school for all school-age groups. This framework should include support for safe walking, scootering and cycling to and from school through current Road Safety and Black Spots programs. Develop and implement a national physical activity plan and invest in the following actions: Local implementation of active travel initiatives to and from school for all schoolage groups. Local implementation of walking strategies (infrastructure and education) for all ages and abilities. Use of existing infrastructure (e.g. Health Care Card Holders) to implement a voucher system to promote participation in sport and physical activity in children living in low socioeconomic areas Implement a national standardised surveillance system for tracking physical activity behaviour across jurisdictions. 	The 2021 EWG retained the strong focus on the importance of developing and implementing a national physical activity plan. The national plan should include the implementation of active travel to school, and added in the second edition, it should include walking strategies for all aged and abilities and a voucher system to promote physical activity in low SES areas. An additional PPA proposes implementation of a national standardised surveillance system.
Improve mental health	PPAs 2016	 Implement adequate and sustainable individual placement and support programs nationally for people with moderate and severe persistent mental illness. Provide incentives to increase program fidelity to existing evidence and the eight key program principles Address service and policy barriers that inhibit employment and constrain the implementation of supported vocational programs. Invest in school completion programs for students with mental illness and build the evidence base to establish how to deliver effective supported education programs as pathway to employment. 	The 2021 EWG affirmed and strengthened the 2016 PPAs that were focussed on individual placement and support for vocational programs. The EWG added an additional PPA to respond to poor physical health among people living with mental health conditions through

	PPAs 2021	 Include individualised physical checks as part of each mental health care plan, with appropriate referral to lifestyle interventions and smoking cessation programs to support the physical health needs of people with mental ill health. Implement sustainable IPS programs nationally for people with moderate and severe persistent mental illness. Invest in school completion/back into school programs through educational support programs for young people living with mental illness. 	inclusion of individualised physical checks in all mental health care plans.
al risk factors	2016	 To reduce salt, the Healthy Food Partnership should: Adopt previous Food and Health Dialogue targets for selected product categories Consult on the adoption of the UK 2017 salt content targets for the remaining food categories and agree on targets within a reasonable time frame. Support independent monitoring of industry progress towards reaching these targets. Ensure reports to highlight progress on salt reduction. Promote product reformulation for salt reduction in the Quick Service Restaurants sector. 	The EWG affirmed and strengthened the 2016 recommended priority policy actions. The group highlighted immediate term policy priority actions that would lead to the greatest gain in reducing premature mortality rates, and identified long term strategies to reduce premature mortality and
Reduce biomedical risk factors	PPAs 20	 Heart health Implement targeted screening and treatment for absolute risk assessment of CVD for adults aged 45-74 years, and from 35 years for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, in line with guidelines. Strategies to increase engagement, particularly in disadvantaged communities, m be required (primary prevention). Expand financial support and the use of care plans for optimal management of individuals at high risk of predictable CVD events, currently an estimated 970,000 (secondary prevention). Invest in service infrastructure, including disease registers and care coordination, to support comprehensive and effective primary and secondary prevention. 	morbidity that are in train and others that will need to be given priority attention.

PPAs 2021	 Implement a structured national screening and treatment program for absolute risk assessment of CVD for adults aged 45–74 years and from 35 years for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, in line with guidelines; with strategies to ensure 10% per annum increase in population engagement and coverage for all high risk groups; and with population based funding for primary care outreach and engagement support strategies targeting high risk populations. Establish a national framework for effective implementation and achievement of population wide aCVR Assessment for high-risk individuals to reduce preventable poor health for these population groups. Expand financial support and the use of care plans for optimal management of individuals at high risk of predictable CVD events, currently an estimated 970,000 (secondary prevention). Invest in a national service infrastructure program including disease registers, decision support and care coordination, to support comprehensive and effective primary and secondary prevention 	
-----------	--	--

Technical details policy briefs

To be inserted: table page 2 from report card when designed by Fenton.

- Almost 1 in 2 (47%) Australians have a chronic disease and 1 in 3 (38.5%) live with two or more chronic diseases (3).
- Cardiovascular disease, cancer and musculoskeletal conditions are the leading cause of illness, disability and death in Australia (4).
- One third of the burden of disease caused by chronic diseases throughout the population could be prevented by reducing modifiable risk factors such as tobacco use, overweight and obesity, dietary risk, and high blood pressure and diabetes (4).
- Only 1.34% of national health expenditure is dedicated to prevention (5).

Healthier diets

Health levy: Reduce sugary drinks consumption

The health levy priority policy action is accompanied by the latest statistics on overweight and obesity among adult Australians.

	LATEST AUSTRALIAN DATA	2025 TARGET	BASELINE DATA AGAINST LATEST DATA	TREND	LATEST INDIGENOUS DATA
Adults living with	67%	61.1%	2007-08: 61.1%		74%
overweight or obesity			2015-16: 63.4%		
			2017-18: 67%		

Adults living with overweight or obesity

Latest Australian data: Tthe 2017-18 National Health Survey reported that 67% of adults (people aged 18 and over) in Australia were overweight or obese (3).

Target: halt the rise in obesity.

Trend: Overweight and obesity rates are trending against the target. The baseline is set at an overweight/obesity prevalence rate of 61.1% based on the 2007-08 NHS (6). Rates of 63.4% were reported in 2015-16 and 67% in the 2017-18 NHS(3).

Latest indigenous data: The NATSIHS 2018-19, reported that 74% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians aged 18 and over were overweight or obese (7). This was an increase from 69% in 2012-13, as reported in the AARSIHS (8).

Protect children from unhealthy food marketing

The PPP recommending protection of children from unhealthy foods and drinks marketing is informed by overweight and obesity rates among children (aged 5-11) and young people (aged 12-17).

	LATEST AUSTRALIAN DATA	2025 TARGET	BASELINE DATA AGAINST LATEST DATA	TREND	LATEST INDIGENOUS DATA
Children (5-11) were living with overweight or obesity	26.2%	21.6%	21.6% in 2007-08 26.2% in 2017-18		37%^
Young people (12- 17 years) living with overweight or obesity	23.2%	28.3%	28.3% in 2007-8 23.2% in 2017-18		

^Aged 2-14

<u>Children</u>

Latest Australian data: In the NHS 2017-18, 26.2% of children aged 5-11 were identified as overweight or obese (3) (PHIDU calculation).

Target: Halt the rise of obesity. The baseline of 21.6% from the NHS 2007-08 is the 2025 target (6).

Trend: Obesity rates are trending away from the target. Reported prevalence of overweight between 2007-08 and 2011-12 decreased with a lower rate of decrease reported from 2011-12 to 2017-18 (3).

Latest Indigenous data: According to the NATSIHS survey, in 2018-19, 37% of the children aged 2-14 were overweight or obese (7), up from 30% in 2012-13 AATSIHS (8).

Young people

Latest Australian data: According to the NHS 2017-18, 23.2% of people aged 12-17 were living with overweight or obesity (3).

Target: Halt the rise of obesity. The baseline of 28.3% in 2007-08 is the 2025 target (2).

Trend: Prevalence rates appeared positive. However, the decrease of aggregated overweight and obesity rates is due to a drop in young people living with overweight while

there is little change in the obesity rates.(Ref required). The trend is therefore shown as amber.

Latest Indigenous data: According to the NATSIHS survey, in 2018-19, 37% of the children aged 2-14 were overweight or obese (7), up from 30% in 2012-13 as reported in the AATSIHS (8).

Reduce salt

The two priority policy actions were identified in light of the following latest data and target.

	LATEST AUSTRALIAN DATA	2025 TARGET	BASELINE DATA AGAINST LATEST DATA	TREND	LATEST INDIGENOUS DATA
Adults consuming too much salt	9.6g per day	5.7g per day	2012: 8.1g 2018: 9.6g	No comparable data available	Not available

Adults consuming too much salt

Latest Australian data: The latest data suggests a daily salt consumption of 9.6 g/day (9). The average Australian consumption is based on "31 published studies and one unpublished dataset that reported salt or sodium by Australian adults on the bases of 24-hour urine collections or dietary questionnaires" (9).

Target: A 30% reduction of salt consumption, based on the 2011 Victorian Health Monitor average of salt intake (8.1 g/day) (10), which translates to 5.7 g/day or 1 teaspoon per day. The average daily consumption was calculated from survey participants providing a urine sample, self-reported food frequency questionnaire and 24-hour dietary recalls. The 2011 monitor was the best available data at the time. The AHPC expert working groups agreed that the Victorian data should be used as a proxy for national data (2).

Trend: Although the trend cannot be assessed due to differences in methodologies, the higher reporting of daily salt consumption among Australian adults is nowhere close to the 2025 target.

Latest Indigenous data: not available.

Healthier living

Reduce harm from alcohol

The PPAs presented in the reduction of harm from alcohol section are informed by NDSHS data 2010-2019. For the purpose of this report and in line with *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2016*, the definition of life-time risky drinking as more than two standard drinks per day on average is used by AHPC. A new guideline component of a recommended ten standard drinks per week was added in 2020 (11).

	LATEST AUSTRALIAN DATA	2025 TARGET	BASELINE DATE AGAINST LATEST DATA	TREND	LATEST INDIGENOUS DATA
Risky drinking (more than 2 standard drinks per day on average)	16.8%	16.1%	2010: 20.1%, 2014: 18.2% 2019: 16.8%		20%

<u>Risky drinking</u>

Latest Australian data: The most recent NDSHS reports that in 2019, 16.8% of Australians aged 14 and over engaged in lifetime risky drinking by consuming more than two standard alcoholic drinks per day (11).

Target: The target agreed upon by the AHPC is 16.1% (2).

Trend: The previous NDSHS surveys (20.1% in 2010 (12), 18.2% in 2013 (13)) suggest positive progress towards the target in 2025. All surveys measure heavy drinking in Australians aged 14 years and over, with the exception of the 2010 survey which reported on people aged 12 years and over.

Latest Indigenous data: According to the 2018-19 NATSIHS 20% of people aged 18 and over consumed more than two standard drinks per day on average and thereby exceeded the lifetime risk guideline (7). This is the same as reported in the 2012-13 AATSIHS (8).

Reduce smoking

The PPAs are informed by the latest data on daily tobacco smoking prevalence among Australians aged 14 years and over and aged 15 and over for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders.

	LATEST AUSTRALIAN DATA	2025 TARGET	BASELINE DATA AGAINST LATEST DATA	TREND	LATEST INDIGENOUS DATA
Daily smokers (aged 14 and over)	11%	5%	2013: 12.8% 2016: 12.2% 2019: 11%		40.2%^

^ Aged 15 years and over

Daily smoking

Latest Australian data: The 2019 National Drug Strategy Household Survey (NDSHS) (11) reported a daily smoking rate of 11%.

Target: The daily tobacco smoking target is 5% (2).

Trend: The latest data suggests positive progress towards the target. Previous NDSHSs reported a daily tobacco smoking prevalence of 12.8% in 2013 and 12.2% in 2016 (11).

Latest Indigenous data: According to the NATSIHS 2018-19 (7), 40.2% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders aged 15 and over reported smoking daily.

Increase physical activity

The physical activity policy recommendations are informed by National Health Survey physical inactivity data analysed by adults, young people and children.

	LATEST	2025	BASELINE DATA	TREND	LATEST
	AUSTRALIAN	TARGET	AGAINST		INDIGENOUS
	DATA		LATEST DATA		DATA
Physically	2017-18	40%	2014-15: 44.5%		2012-13:
inactive	44.6%		2017-18: 44.6%		62%
adults (18-64			2011 10. 11.070		0270
years)					
Physically	2011-12:	82.6%	No new data since	Inadequate	2012-13:
inactive	91.5%		baseline	to access	67%^
young	011070			trend	
people (12-					
17 years)					
Physically	2011-12:	63.7%	No new data since	Inadequate	2012-13
inactive	70.8%		baseline	to access	40.5%^^
children (5-	10.070			trend	10.070
11 years)					

^ 13-17 years

^^ 5-12 years

Physically inactive adults

As discussed in *Australia's Health Tracker 2019* (14), the 2017-18 National Health Survey changed the definition of physical activity from that used in earlier surveys. The results for adults reported in the 2017-18 survey are therefore not comparable to previous surveys.

Australia's Health Tracker 2019 (and this Getting Australia's Health on Track edition 2021) report against the benchmark of 150 minutes or more 'exercise only in the last week' (which is the only comparable question against three decades of the NHS) to measure trends over time and track Australia's progress against the 2025 target. This definition excludes some types of physical activity undertaken, and does not assess health-related walking, but in the opinion of the AHPC expert physical activity working group it is closest to the definition used in the 2011-12 survey (2). Therefore, due to this change in definition, we cannot measure trend but instead, will show progress towards the 2025 target.

Differences in measurement between the 2012-13 AATSIHS and 2018-19 NATSIHS should also be taken into account.

Latest Australian data: The 2017-18 NHS reported a physical inactivity rate of 44.6% among adults aged 18-64 years (3). Physical inactivity is defined as less than 150 minutes exercise per week (for details see 14).

Target: A 10% reduction in insufficient physical activity is based on the 2014-15 NHS data of 44.5% adults aged 18-64 years who engaged in less than 150 minutes of physical activity, is 40% prevalence of physical inactivity (14).

Since the AHPC's 2015 Targets and Indicators report, the physical inactivity target has been revised. The WHO has now set a 15% reduction in physical inactivity prevalence by 2030 (15). For consistency purposes, the *Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021* reports progress towards the 2025 target.

Trend: The data shows little progress towards the target. The NHS 2014-15 reports a physical inactivity rate of 44.5% (16), in 2017-18 the rate was up to 44.6% (3).

Latest Indigenous data: According to the 2012-13 AATSIHS, 38% of Indigenous adults 18-64 years living in non-remote areas met the physical activity guideline of at least 150 minutes od physical activity over five sessions in the 7 days prior to the interview (17). An estimated 62% did not meet those guidelines.

The 2018-19 NATSIHS reports on physical activity in people aged 18 years and over living in non-remote areas. Of Indigenous Australians living in non-remote areas aged 15 years and over, 89% did not meet the guidelines (with little difference between the age groups) (7). Please note: the 2014 physical activity guidelines applied to the NATSIHS 2018-19 survey and involve the following two guidelines below in the last week:

- accumulated at least 150 minutes of exercise over five sessions and
- did strength or toning activities on at least two days (18).

In the 2012-13 survey, the two guidelines were reported on separately as well as in combination. Then, 8.8% of Indigenous adults aged 18-64 met both guidelines and an estimated 91.2% did not.

Physically inactive young people

Latest Australian data: The most recent data on physical inactivity among young people (aged 12-17) is ten years old and reported in the AHS 2011-12 survey (19). The survey reported that 91.5% of young people did not meet physical activity guidelines. Data was not collected in the NHS 2014-15 or 2017-18 surveys.

Target: A 10% reduction in insufficient physical activity is based on the 2011-12 AHS data, which is 82.6% for young children.

Trend: There is insufficient data to assess the trend towards the target.

Latest Indigenous data: According to the 2012-13 AATSIHS, 33% of 13-17 years old living in non-remote areas did meet physical activity guidelines of 60 minutes or more physical activity per day in each of the three days prior to interview. That is, an estimated 67% did not (8,17).

The NATSIHS 2018-19 reported only on Indigenous Australians aged 15-17 years. That survey found that 4.8% were meeting the physical activity guidelines (that is, an estimated 95.2% were not).

Physically inactive children

Latest Australian data: In 2011-12, 70.8% of children aged 5-11 years were not meeting the physical activity guidelines of at least 60 minutes or more physical activity per day on each three days prior to \interview (19).

Target: A 10% reduction in insufficient physical activity is based on 2011-12 AHS data, making the target that 63.7% of children are insufficiently active by 2025. (14).

Trend: There is insufficient data to assess the trend towards the target.

Latest Indigenous data: The 2012-13 AATSIHS reported that 40.5% of 5-12 years old were not meeting physical activity guidelines of at least 60 minutes or more physical activity per day on each three days prior to interview (8).

Mental ill-health

People living with mental illnesses are over-represented in national unemployment and out of school statistics. In 2018, 62.9% of people aged 16-64 living with current and long-term mental and behavioural conditions were employed, compared to 80.5% of people without a mental health condition (3). This is despite people with mental illnesses expressing the desire and having capacity to undertake work (163). Education is a powerful intervention to stay connected or to reconnect and prepare for work, protecting individuals with mental ill-health against future unemployment (20). PPAs to increase engagement in education and employment are proposed.

An additional policy initiative to redress the poorer physical health of people living with mental illness proposes that physical health assessments be included as a component of all mental health care plans. Currently, there are no relevant Australian targets in relation to people living with long-term mental health conditions and physical health assessments or physical health checks.

	LATEST AUSTRALIAN DATA	2025 TARGET	2016 DATA AGAINST LATEST DATA	TREND	LATEST INDIGENOUS DATA
Employment of people with mental illness (aged 16-64)	62.9%	70.5%	2011-12: 60.6% 2014-15: 61.4% 2017-18: 62.9%		Not available
Young people (16-30 years) with mental illness in education or employment	81.5%	84.5%	2011-12: 79% 2014-15: 78.4% 2017-18 81.5%		Not available

Employment of people with mental illness

Latest Australian data: The 2017-18 NHS estimated that 62.9% of people living with longterm mental and behavioral problems aged 16-64 were engaged in employment (3). Compared to 80.5% of people living without mental health conditions.

Target: Halve employment gap. In the baseline year, 2011-12, an estimated 60.6% people aged 16-64 living with long-term mental and behavioral problems were employed, compared

to 79.7% of their peers living without similar problems (21). Halving the gap means a target of 70.5% employed (22).

Trend: The data suggest little or no progress towards the 2025 target.

Latest Indigenous data: No data available.

Young people with mental illness in education or employment

Latest Australian data: The 2017-18 NHS survey reported that 79% of young people (16-30 years) living with mental health condition were involved in education or employment.

Target: The target for 2025 is to halve the participation gap, which is 84.5%. The NHS 2011-12 survey reported that 79% of 16-30 year-old living with current and long term mental and behavioral problems were involved in education or employment, compared to 90.2% of their peers not reporting those conditions.

Trend: The data shows positive progress towards the target.

Latest Indigenous data: No data available.

Reduce biomedical risk factors

Cardiovascular disease screening

Cardiovascular diseases are the largest contributors to premature deaths, that is, potentially avoidable deaths between the ages of 30 and 70, in Australia (4). Premature deaths from chronic diseases in Australia have been declining for several decades, making it likely that the target for reduction in these deaths in the national population, which has been endorsed for Australia by the AHPC, will be met. However, residents of the lowest socio-economic communities in Australia have mortality rates almost 50% higher than those in more affluent areas; premature mortality rates are higher for people living in rural and remote areas than for those living in major cities; and socioeconomic and geographic inequalities in premature mortality are widening (23).

Reduction of biomedical risk factors such as cardiovascular risks and high blood pressure through systematic screening, together with high rates of screening for common cancers particularly breast, bowel and cervical cancer, are essential to achieve further reduction in premature death rates, particularly among communities with lower socio-economic status and other priority population groups.

	LATEST AUSTRALIAN DATA	2025 TARGET	BASELINE DATA AGAINST LATEST DATA	TREND	LATEST INDIGENOUS DATA
Death rates from CVD, stroke, common cancers or chronic respiratory disease (30-70)	210 deaths per 100,000 in 2014-18	166 deaths per 100,000	2009-13: 221.5 2011-15: 208.2 2014-18: 210		No data available
Adults with high blood pressure (aged 18 years and over)	22.8%	16.1%	2011-12: 21.5% 2014-15: 23% 2017-18: 22.8%		31%^

^ aged 25 years and over

Premature mortality

Latest Australian data: The five leading underlying causes of premature mortality in Australia in 2018 were coronary heart disease, dementia (including Alzheimer's disease) cerebrovascular disease, lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (24). For the period 2014-2018, 210 deaths per 100,000 population from major chronic diseases

(CVD, stroke, common cancers or chronic respiratory disease) among people aged 30-70 were reported (PHIDU).

Premature mortality data was compiled by PHIDU and is based on the 2014 to 2018 Cause of Death Unit Record Files supplied by the Australian Coordinating Registry and the Victorian Department of Justice, on behalf of the Registries of Births, Deaths and Marriages and the National Coronial Information System.

2025 target: The AHPC agreed on a 25% reduction in premature deaths by 2025. In the baseline year of 2010, there were 221.5 premature deaths per 100,000 population, which translates to a target of 166 premature deaths per 100,000.

Trend: The latest data suggest limited progress towards the target.

Latest indigenous data: No data available.

High blood pressure

Latest Australian data: The 2017-18 NHS (3) reported a high blood pressure prevalence rate of 22.8% among adults aged 18 years and over. High blood pressure was defined as a systolic/diastolic pressure equal to or greater than 140/90 mmHg. The survey collected both measured blood pressure and self-reported blood pressure data.

2025 target: In the baseline year 2011-12, the AHS survey reported that 21.5% of Australian adults had high blood pressure (21). The 2014-15 and 2017-18 NHS estimated a high blood pressure prevalence rate of 23% and 22.8%.

Trend: The data suggest no progress towards the target.

Latest indigenous data: The 2018-19 NATSIHS (7) estimated that 31% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults aged 25 years and over had high blood pressure (140/90 mmHg or higher). The survey collected both measured blood pressure and self-reported blood pressure data.

References Policy paper

References cited in the Getting Australia's Health on Track 2021 policy paper are.

- 1. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2020 [Internet]. Canberra: AIHW; 2020 [cited 2021 May 17]. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/australias-health-2020-datainsights/contents/summary
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Burden of Disease: Impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2015. 2019 [cited 2021 May 17]; Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/burden-disease-study-illness-death-2015/contents/table-of-contents
- 3. Shiell A, Jackson H. How much does Australia spend on prevention and how would we know whether it is enough? Health Promot J Austr. 2018 Jul;29:7–9.
- 4. Adair T, Lopez A. Widening inequalities in premature mortality in Australia, 2006-16. Aust Popul Stud. 2020;4(1):37–56.
- 5. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Chronic conditions and multimorbidity [Internet]. AIHW; 2020. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/chronic-conditions-and-multimorbidity
- 6. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Rural and remote health. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.
- 7. Broerse J, Maple J-L, Klepac Pogrmilovic B, Macklin S, Calder R. Australia's Health Tracker by Socioeconomic Status: Technical Report. Melbourne: AHPC and Mitchell Institute; 2021.
- 8. Calder R, Glover J, Buckley J, McNeil M, Harris B, Lindberg R. Better data for better decisions: The Case for an Australian Health Survey. Melbourne: AHPC and Mitchell Institute; 2018.
- 9. COAG Health Council. National Obesity Strategy Consultation report [Internet]. Health Council; p. 61. Available from: https://consultations.health.gov.au/population-health-and-sport-division/national-obesity-strategy/
- 10. de Silva-Sanigorski AM, Bell AC, Kremer P, Nichols M, Crellin M, Smith M, et al. Reducing obesity in early childhood: results from Romp & Chomp, an Australian community-wide intervention program. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010 Apr 1;91(4):831–40.
- 11. Nickel S, Von dem Knesebeck O. Do multiple community-based interventions on health promotion tackle health inequalities?. Int J Equity Health. 2020;19(1):1–13.
- 12. World Bank. Taxes on Sugar-Sweetened Beverages: International Evidence and Experiences. World Bank; 2020.
- 13. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Nutrition across the life stages. Cat. no. PHE 227. Canberra: AIHW; 2018.

- 14. Popkin BM, Ng SW. Sugar-sweetened beverage taxes: Lessons to date and the future of taxation. PLOS Med. 2021 Jan 7;18(1):e1003412.
- 15. Karp P. Most Australians want sugar tax on drinks Guardian Essential poll. The Guardian; 2018.
- 16. Australian Medical Association. A tax on sugar-sweetened beverages: Modelled impacts on sugar consumption and government revenue. Barton, ACT: AMA; 2021.
- 17. Obesity Policy Coalition and Global Obesity Centre. Tipping the scales Australian Obesity Prevention Consensus [Internet]. Melbourne: Obesity Policy Coalition; 2017. Available from: http://www.opc.org.au/downloads/tipping-the-scales/tipping-thescales.pdf
- Teng AM, Jones AC, Mizdrak A, Signal L, Genç M, Wilson N. Impact of sugar-sweetened beverage taxes on purchases and dietary intake: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2019 Sep;20(9):1187–204.
- 19. Bleich SN, Vercammen KA. The negative impact of sugar-sweetened beverages on children's health: an update of the literature. BMC Obes. 2018 Dec;5(1):6.
- 20. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Poor diet. Cat. no. PHE 249. [Internet]. Canberra: AIHW; 2019. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/food-nutrition/poor-diet
- 21. Backholer K, Sarink D, Beauchamp A, Keating C, Loh V, Ball K, et al. The impact of a tax on sugar-sweetened beverages according to socio-economic position: a systematic review of the evidence. Public Health Nutr. 2016 Dec;19(17):3070–84.
- 22. Ananthapavan J, Sacks G, Brown V, Moodie M, Nguyen P, Barendregt J, et al. Assessing Cost-Effectiveness of Obesity Prevention Policies in Australia 2018 (ACE-Obesity Policy). Melbourne: Deakin University; 2018.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. 4364.0.55.012 Australian Health Survey: Consumption of Food Groups from the Australian Dietary Guidelines, 2011-12 [Internet]. Canberra: ABS; 2016. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/4364.0.55.012main+features12011-12
- 24. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Health Survey 2011-12: Nutrition first results Foods and Nutrients. Canberra: ABS; 2014.
- 25. The Obesity Collective. Weighing in: Australia's growing obesity epidemic. Collective for Action on Obesity; 2019.
- 26. Obesity Evidence Hub. Impact of unhealthy food marketing on children. Obesity Policy Coalition; 2020.
- 27. Nuss T, Chen T, Morley B. Australians' support for initiatives to protect children from unhealthy food and drink marketing and advertising. Research brief, prepared for: Obesity Policy Coalition. Melbourne: Centre for Behavioural Research in Cancer, Cancer Council Victoria; 2020.
- Kelly B, Bosward R, Freeman B. Social online marketing engagement (SoMe) study of food and drink brands: Real time measurement of Australian children (Preprint). 2021 [cited 2021 Jun 21]; Available from: http://preprints.jmir.org/preprint/28144

- 29. Clark H, Coll-Seck AM, Banerjee A, Peterson S, Dalglish SL, Ameratunga S, et al. A future for the world's children? A WHO–UNICEF–Lancet Commission. The Lancet. 2020 Feb;395(10224):605–58.
- World Health Organization. Set of recommendations on the marketing of foods and nonalcoholic beverages to children. [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 [cited 2021 May 18]. Available from: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241500210_eng.pdf
- 31. Zimmerman FJ. Using Marketing Muscle to Sell Fat: The Rise of Obesity in the Modern Economy. Annu Rev Public Health. 2011 Apr 21;32(1):285–306.
- 32. Boyland EJ, Nolan S, Kelly B, Tudur-Smith C, Jones A, Halford JC, et al. Advertising as a cue to consume: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of acute exposure to unhealthy food and nonalcoholic beverage advertising on intake in children and adults. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016 Feb 1;103(2):519–33.
- 33. Sadeghirad B, Duhaney T, Motaghipisheh S, Campell N, Johnston B. Influence of unhealthy food and beverage marketing on children's dietary intake and preference: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Obes Rev. 2016;17(10):945–59.
- 34. Roberts M, Pettigrew S, Chapman K, Quester P, Miller C. Children's exposure to food advertising: An analysis of the effectiveness of self-regulatory codes in Australia: Children's exposure to food advertising. Nutr Diet. 2014 Mar;71(1):35–40.
- 35. Smithers LG, Haag DG, Agnew B, Lynch J, Sorell M. Food advertising on Australian television: Frequency, duration and monthly pattern of advertising from a commercial network (four channels) for the entire 2016: Food advertising on television. J Paediatr Child Health. 2018 Sep;54(9):962–7.
- Richmond K, Watson W, Hughes C, Kelly B. Children's trips to school dominated by unhealthy food advertising in Sydney, Australia. Public Health Res Pract [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Jun 21];30(1). Available from: https://www.phrp.com.au/?p=38987
- 37. Martino F, Chung A, Potter J, Heneghan T, Chisholm M, Riesenberg D, et al. A statewide audit of unhealthy sponsorship within junior sporting clubs in Victoria, Australia. Public Health Nutr. 2021 May 26;1–8.
- Pulker CE, Scott JA, Pollard CM. Ultra-processed family foods in Australia: nutrition claims, health claims and marketing techniques. Public Health Nutr. 2018 Jan;21(1):38– 48.
- 39. Brimblecombe J, McMahon E, Ferguson M, De Silva K, Peeters A, Miles E, et al. Effect of restricted retail merchandising of discretionary food and beverages on population diet: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. Lancet Planet Health. 2020 Oct;4(10):e463–73.
- 40. K Hickey, Mandelbaum J, Bloom K, Martin J. Overbranded, Underprotected: How industry self-regulation is failing to protect children from unhealthy food marketing. Obesity Policy Coalition, Melbourne; 2018.
- 41. Khandpur N, Neri DA, Monteiro C, Mazur A, Frelut M-L, Boyland E, et al. Ultra-Processed Food Consumption among the Paediatric Population: An Overview and Call to Action from the European Childhood Obesity Group. Ann Nutr Metab. 2020;76(2):109– 13.

- 42. Taillie LS, Busey E, Stoltze FM, Dillman Carpentier FR. Governmental policies to reduce unhealthy food marketing to children. Nutr Rev. 2019 Nov 1;77(11):787–816.
- 43. Mediano Stoltze F, Reyes M, Smith TL, Correa T, Corvalán C, Carpentier FRD. Prevalence of Child-Directed Marketing on Breakfast Cereal Packages before and after Chile's Food Marketing Law: A Pre- and Post-Quantitative Content Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019 Nov 15;16(22):4501.
- 44. Department of Health and Social Care. Press release: New advertising rules to help tackle childhood obesity. UK Government, 2021.
- 45. Chung A, Shill J, Swinburn B, Mavoa H, Lawrence M, Loff B, et al. An analysis of potential barriers and enablers to regulating the television marketing of unhealthy foods to children at the state government level in Australia. BMC Public Health. 2012 Dec;12(1):1123.
- 46. Hickey K, Schmidtke A, Martin J. Brands offour kids! Four actions for a childhood free from unhealthy food marketing. Melbourne: Obesity Policy Coalition; 2021.
- 47. He FJ, MacGregor GA. A comprehensive review on salt and health and current experience of worldwide salt reduction programmes. J Hum Hypertens. 2009 Jun;23(6):363–84.
- 48. The George Institute for Global Health. The Potential Impact of Salt Reduction in Australia. The George Institute for Global Health; 2020.
- 49. Land MA, Neal BC, Johnson C, Nowson CA, Margerison C, Petersen KS. Salt consumption by Australian adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Med J Aust. 2018;208(2):75–81.
- 50. Mc Namara K, Livingston M, Kypri K, Maple J, Bauman AE, Grimes C, et al. Targets and indicators for chronic disease prevention in Australia, Australian Health Policy Collaboration technical paper No. 2019-01. Melbourne: Mitchell Institute; 2019.
- 51. Filippini T, Malavolti M, Whelton PK, Naska A, Orsini N, Vinceti M. Blood Pressure Effects of Sodium Reduction: Dose–Response Meta-Analysis of Experimental Studies. Circulation. 2021 Apr 20;143(16):1542–67.
- 52. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey 2017-2018. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2018.
- 53. ABS. Causes of Death, 2019. 2020.
- 54. National Heart Foundation of Australia. REFORMULATION READINESS A best practice guide to salt reduction for Australian food manufacturers. Heart Foundation; 2019.
- 55. Bhat S, Marklund M, Henry ME, Appel LJ, Croft KD, Neal B, et al. A Systematic Review of the Sources of Dietary Salt Around the World. Adv Nutr. 2020 May 1;11(3):677–86.
- Grimes CA, Riddell LJ, Campbell KJ, Nowson CA. Dietary salt intake assessed by 24 h urinary sodium excretion in Australian schoolchildren aged 5–13 years. Public Health Nutr. 2013 Oct;16(10):1789–95.
- 57. Ares G, Aschemann-Witzel J, Curutchet MR, Antúnez L, Machín L, Vidal L, et al. Product reformulation in the context of nutritional warning labels: Exploration of consumer

preferences towards food concepts in three food categories. Food Res Int. 2018 May;107:669–74.

- 58. Gressier M, Sassi F, Frost G. Healthy Foods and Healthy Diets. How Government Policies Can Steer Food Reformulation. Nutrients. 2020 Jul 4;12(7):1992.
- 59. Priest E. Salt reduction among sweeping changes Coles makes to baked bread. 2021 May 26; Available from: https://www.news.com.au/lifestyle/food/salt-reduction-amongsweeping-changes-coles-makes-to-baked-bread/newsstory/da791213ff85f3c55e5feeced6287d76
- Hyseni L, Elliot-Green A, Lloyd-Williams F, Kypridemos C, O'Flaherty M, McGill R, et al. Systematic review of dietary salt reduction policies: Evidence for an effectiveness hierarchy? Shankar B, editor. PLOS ONE. 2017 May 18;12(5):e0177535.
- 61. He FJ, Brinsden HC, MacGregor GA. Salt reduction in the United Kingdom: a successful experiment in public health. J Hum Hypertens. 2014 Jun;28(6):345–52.
- 62. Hernandez AV, Emonds EE, Chen BA, Zavala-Loayza AJ, Thota P, Pasupuleti V, et al. Effect of low-sodium salt substitutes on blood pressure, detected hypertension, stroke and mortality. Heart. 2019 Jan 19;heartjnl-2018-314036.
- 63. Bernabe-Ortiz A, Sal y Rosas VG, Ponce-Lucero V, Cárdenas MK, Carrillo-Larco RM, Diez-Canseco F, et al. Effect of salt substitution on community-wide blood pressure and hypertension incidence. Nat Med. 2020 Mar;26(3):374–8.
- 64. Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition, Committee on Toxicity. Potassium-based sodium replacers: assessment of the health benefits and risks of using potassium-based sodium replacers in foods in the UK. SACN-COT; 2017.
- 65. Murphy MM, Scrafford CG, Barraj LM, Bi X, Higgins KA, Jaykus L-A, et al. Potassium chloride-based replacers: modeling effects on sodium and potassium intakes of the US population with cross-sectional data from NHANES 2015–2016 and 2009–2010. Am J Clin Nutr. 2021 Mar 23;nqab020.
- 66. Greer RC, Marklund M, Anderson CAM, Cobb LK, Dalcin AT, Henry M, et al. Potassium-Enriched Salt Substitutes as a Means to Lower Blood Pressure: Benefits and Risks. Hypertension. 2020 Feb;75(2):266–74.
- 67. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2019. Drug Statistics series no. 32. PHE 270. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.
- 68. Whetton S, Tait RJ, Scollo M, Banks E, Chapman J, Dey T, et al. Identifying the social costs of tobacco use to Australia in 2015/16 [Internet]. Perth, WA: National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University; 2019 [cited 2021 May 24]. Available from: http://ndri.curtin.edu.au/NDRI/media/documents/publications/T273.pdf
- 69. Greenhalgh EM, Bayly M, Winstanley MH. Tobacco in Australia: facts and issues [Internet]. Melbourne: Cancer Council Victoria; 2020. Available from: https://www.tobaccoinaustralia.org.au/home.aspx
- 70. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey 2018-19. Canberra: ABS; 2019.
- 71. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. The health of Australia's prisoners 2018. Cat. no. PHE 246. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.

- 72. Banks E, Beckwith K, Joshy G. Summary report on use of e-cigarettes and impact on tobacco smoking uptake and cessation, relevant to the Australian context. [Internet]. Commissioned Report for the Australian Government Department of Health; 2020. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/1885/211618
- 73. Thurber KA, Banks E, Joshy G, Soga K, Marmor A, Benton G, et al. Tobacco smoking and mortality among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults in Australia. Int J Epidemiol. 2021 Jan 25;dyaa274.
- 74. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Alcohol, tobacco & other drugs in Australia [Internet]. AIWH; 2021. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol/alcohol-tobacco-other-drugs-australia/contents/priority-populations/people-with-mental-health-conditions
- 75. Crenshaw K. Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist theory and Antiracist Politics. Univ Chic Leg Forum. 1989;8(1):28.
- 76. Cookson C, Strang J, Ratschen E, Sutherland G, Finch E, McNeill A. Smoking and its treatment in addiction services: Clients' and staff behaviour and attitudes. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014 Dec;14(1):304.
- 77. Kock L, Brown J, Hiscock R, Tattan-Birch H, Smith C, Shahab L. Individual-level behavioural smoking cessation interventions tailored for disadvantaged socioeconomic position: a systematic review and meta-regression. Lancet Public Health. 2019 Dec;4(12):e628–44.
- 78. Bryant J, Bonevski B, Paul C, McElduff P, Attia J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effectiveness of behavioural smoking cessation interventions in selected disadvantaged groups: Effectiveness of behavioural cessation interventions in selected disadvantaged groups. Addiction. 2011 Sep;106(9):1568–85.
- 79. Carroll T, Cotter T, Purcell K, Bayly M. Public education campaigns to discourage: the Australian experience. In: Tobacco in Australia: Facts and issues [Internet]. Melbourne: Cancer Council Victoria; 2019. Available from: https://www.tobaccoinaustralia.org.au/chapter-14-social-marketing/14-3-tobacco control-campaigns-in-australia-experi
- White S, McCaffrey, N, Scollo M. Tobacco dependence treatment in Australia an untapped opportunity for reducing the smoking burden. Public Health Res Pract [Internet]. 2020 Sep [cited 2021 May 24];30(3). Available from: https://www.phrp.com.au/?p=39627
- 81. Bain E, Hayes L. Victorians' use of, and beliefs towards pharmacotherapy 2018. Melbourne: Centre for Behavioural Research in Cancer; 2019.
- 82. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Tobacco smoking [Internet]. Canberra: AIHW; 2020. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/tobacco-smoking
- 83. FDA. How a cigarette is engineered. FDA; 2016.
- 84. World Health Organization. Tobacco and its environmental impact: an overview. Geneva: WHO; 2017.
- 85. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Smoking Cessation. A Report of the Surgeon General. 2020;700.

- Wakefield MA, Dunstone K, Brennan E, Vittiglia A, Scollo M, Durkin SJ, et al. Australian smokers' experiences and perceptions of recessed and firm filter cigarettes. Tob Control. 2020 Oct 28;tobaccocontrol-2020-055725.
- Ford P, Clifford A, Gussy K, Gartner C. A Systematic Review of Peer-Support Programs for Smoking Cessation in Disadvantaged Groups. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2013 Oct 28;10(11):5507–22.
- 88. Australian National Preventive Health Agency. Smoking and disadvantage: Promoting a healthy Australia. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2013.
- 89. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Pharmacotherapy for smoking cessation: A guide for professionals. 2nd edn. RACGP; 2019.
- Kotz D, Brown J, West R. Prospective Cohort Study of the Effectiveness of Smoking Cessation Treatments Used in the "Real World." Mayo Clin Proc. 2014 Oct;89(10):1360– 7.
- 91. McCaffrey, N, Carter R. Economic evaluation of the Victorian Quitline service. Deakin Health Economics Deakin University; 2018.
- 92. Thomas D, Calma T. Tackling Indigenous smoking: a good news story in Australian tobacco control. Public Health Res Pract [Internet]. 2020 Sep [cited 2021 May 24];30(3). Available from: https://www.phrp.com.au/?p=39600
- 93. Hunt G. World No Tobacco Day 2021 Helping More Australians Quit Smoking [Internet]. Jun 31, 2021. Available from: https://www.greghunt.com.au/world-no-tobacco-day-2021-helping-more-australians-quit-smoking/
- 94. Carey G, Crammond B, De Leeuw E. Towards health equity: a framework for the application of proportionate universalism. Int J Equity Health. 2015 Dec;14(1):81.
- 95. Australian Health Policy Collaboration, Duggan M, Chislett W-K, Calder R. The state of self-care in Australia [Internet]. Melbourne, Vic.: Australian Health Policy Collaboration; 2018 [cited 2021 May 24]. Available from: http://www.asmi.com.au/media/55075/160218 self care in australia final .pdf
- 96. Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists. Social Prescribing Roundtable November 2019. RACGP; 2020.
- 97. Fetherston H, Harris B, Calder R. Australia's Health Tracker Technical Appendix. Australian Health Policy Collaboration, Technical paper no. 3-2019. Mitchell Institute, Victoria University; 2019.
- 98. Crosland P, Ananthapavan J, Davison J, Lambert M, Carter R. The economic cost of preventable disease in Australia: a systematic review of estimates and methods. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2019 Oct;43(5):484–95.
- 99. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2019 [Internet]. Canberra: AIHW; 2020 [cited 2021 May 17]. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/illicit-use-of-drugs/national-drug-strategy-household-survey-2019/contents/table-of-contents
- 100.Manning M, Smith C, Mazerolle P. The societal costs of alcohol misuse in Australia. Australian Institute of Criminology; 2013 p. 6.

- 101. Parliamentary Budget Office. Alcohol taxation in Australia. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2015.
- 102. Wilkinson C, Livingston M, Room R. Impacts of changes to trading hours of liquor licences on alcohol-related harm: a systematic review 2005–2015. Public Health Res Pract [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2021 May 17];26(4). Available from: http://www.phrp.com.au/issues/september-2016-volume-26-issue-4/impacts-of-changesto-trading-hours-of-liquor-licenses-on-alcohol-related-harm-a-systematic-review-2005-2015/
- 103. Mojica-Perez Y, Callinan S, Livingston M. ALCOHOL HOME DELIVERY SERVICES: AN INVESTIGATION OF USE AND RISK. 2019;20.
- 104. Huckle T, Parker K, Romeo JS, Casswell S. Online alcohol delivery is associated with heavier drinking during the first New Zealand COVID -19 pandemic restrictions. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2020 Nov 30;dar.13222.
- 105. Stockings E, Hall WD, Lynskey M, Morley KI, Reavley N, Strang J, et al. Prevention, early intervention, harm reduction, and treatment of substance use in young people. Lancet Psychiatry. 2016 Mar;3(3):280–96.
- Teesson M, Newton NC, Barrett EL. Australian school-based prevention programs for alcohol and other drugs: A systematic review: Systematic review: Alcohol and drug prevention. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2012 Sep;31(6):731–6.
- 107. Lee NK, Cameron J, Battams S, Roche A. What works in school-based alcohol education: A systematic review USE. Health Educ J. 2016 Nov;75(7):780–98.
- 108. Wagenaar AC, Salois MJ, Komro KA. Effects of beverage alcohol price and tax levels on drinking: a meta-analysis of 1003 estimates from 112 studies. Addiction. 2009 Feb;104(2):179–90.
- Wagenaar AC, Tobler AL, Komro KA. Effects of Alcohol Tax and Price Policies on Morbidity and Mortality: A Systematic Review. Am J Public Health. 2010 Nov;100(11):2270–8.
- 110. Ejebu O-Z, Mckenzie L, Ludbrook A. Household purchasing of cheap alcohol: Who would be most affected by minimum unit pricing? Nord J Health Econ. 2018;6(1):19.
- 111. Callinan S, Room R, Livingston M, Jiang H. Who Purchases Low-Cost Alcohol in Australia? Alcohol Alcohol. 2015 Nov;50(6):647–53.
- 112. Doran CM, Byrnes JM, Cobiac LJ, Vandenberg B, Vos T. Estimated impacts of alternative Australian alcohol taxation structures on consumption, public health and government revenues. Med J Aust. 2013 Nov;199(9):619–22.
- 113. Cobiac L, Vos T, Doran C, Wallace A. Cost-effectiveness of interventions to prevent alcohol-related disease and injury in Australia. Addiction. 2009 Oct;104(10):1646–55.
- 114. Nepal S, Kypros K, Tekelab T, Hodder R, Attia J, Begade T, et al. Effects of Extensions and Restrictions in Alcohol Trading Hours on the Incidence of Assault and Unintentional Injury: Systematic Review. J Stud Alcohol Drugs. 2020;81(1):5–23.
- 115. Gmel G, Holmes J, Studer J. Are alcohol outlet densities strongly associated with alcohol-related outcomes? A critical review of recent evidence: Alcohol outlet density and violence. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2016 Jan;35(1):40–54.

- 116. Lee N, Cameron J, Battams S, Roche A. Alcohol education for Australian schools [electronic resource]: what are the most effective programs? Adelaide: National Centre for Education and training on Addiction; 2014.
- 117. Lee I-M, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. The Lancet. 2012 Jul;380(9838):219–29.
- 118. Joyner MJ, Green DJ. Exercise protects the cardiovascular system: effects beyond traditional risk factors: Exercise protects the cardiovascular system. J Physiol. 2009 Dec 1;587(23):5551–8.
- 119. Blondell SJ, Hammersley-Mather R, Veerman JL. Does physical activity prevent cognitive decline and dementia?: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. BMC Public Health. 2014 Dec;14(1):510.
- 120. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Health Survey: Updated Results, 2011-13. Canberra: ABS; 2013.
- 121. Santos L, Elliott-Sale KJ, Sale C. Exercise and bone health across the lifespan. Biogerontology. 2017 Dec;18(6):931–46.
- 122. Sallis JF, Pratt M. Multiple benefits of physical activity during the Coronavirus pandemic. Rev Bras Atividade Física Saúde. 2020;25:1–5.
- 123. Sallis R, Young DR, Tartof SY, Sallis JF, Sall J, Li Q, et al. Physical inactivity is associated with a higher risk for severe COVID-19 outcomes: a study in 48 440 adult patients. Br J Sports Med. 2021 Apr 13;bjsports-2021-104080.
- 124. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Physical activity across the life stages. Canberra: AIHW; 2018.
- 125. Ding D, Lawson KD, Kolbe-Alexander TL, Finkelstein EA, Katzmarzyk PT, van Mechelen W, et al. The economic burden of physical inactivity: a global analysis of major non-communicable diseases. The Lancet. 2016 Sep;388(10051):1311–24.
- 126. Klepac Pogrmilovic B, Ramirez Varela A, Pratt M, Milton K, Bauman A, Biddle SJH, et al. National physical activity and sedentary behaviour policies in 76 countries: availability, comprehensiveness, implementation, and effectiveness. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020 Dec;17(1):116.
- 127. Bauman A. Australia report card. Global Observatory for Physical Activity; 2021.
- 128. Pearson LK, Dipnall J, Gabbe B, Braaf S, White S, Backhouse M, et al. The potential for bike riding across entire cities: quantifying spatial variation in interest in bike riding [Internet]. Public and Global Health; 2021 Mar [cited 2021 May 31]. Available from: http://medrxiv.org/lookup/doi/10.1101/2021.03.14.21253340
- 129. Heart Foundation. What Australia wants: Living locally in walkable neighbourhoods [Internet]. Heart Foundation; 2020. Available from: https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/media-releases/what-australia-wants
- Morley B, Niven P, Dixon H, Swanson M, Szybiak M, Shilton T, et al. Populationbased evaluation of the 'LiveLighter' healthy weight and lifestyle mass media campaign. Health Educ Res. 2016 Apr;31(2):121–35.

- Vine D, Buys L, Aird R. Experiences of Neighbourhood Walkability Among Older Australians Living in High Density Inner-City Areas. Plan Theory Pract. 2012 Sep;13(3):421–44.
- 132. Holt NL, Kingsley BC, Tink LN, Scherer J. Benefits and challenges associated with sport participation by children and parents from low-income families. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2011 Sep;12(5):490–9.
- 133. Australian Sports Commission. Ausplay: Children's participation in organised physical activity outside of school hours. Canberra: Australian Sports Commission; 2019.
- 134. Bauman AE, Nau T, Cassidy S, Gilbert S, Bellew W, Smith BJ. Physical activity surveillance in Australia: standardisation is overdue. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2021 Apr 5;1753-6405.13085.
- 135. Bauman A, Chau J. Monitoring Population Trends Through Physical Activity Surveillance a Chequered History in Australia. Australas Epidemiol. 2015;22(1):5–8.
- 136. World Health Organization. Global action plan on physical activity 2018-2030: more active people for a healthier world. WHO; 2019.
- 137. International Society for Physical Activity and Health. ISPAH's Eight Investments That Work for Physical Activity. 2020 Nov.
- 138. Heart Foundation. Blueprint for an active Australia. Heart Foundation; 2019.
- 139. Nieuwenhuijsen MJ. Influence of urban and transport planning and the city environment on cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2018 Jul;15(7):432–8.
- 140. Hills AP, Dengel DR, Lubans DR. Supporting Public Health Priorities: Recommendations for Physical Education and Physical Activity Promotion in Schools. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2015 Jan;57(4):368–74.
- 141. Healthy Spaces & Places. The Brisbane Council School Travel Program: Case Study. Healthy Spaces & Places; 2019.
- 142. Department of Transport and Main Roads. Queensland Walking Strategy 2019–2029. State of Queensland; 2019.
- 143. Levinger P, Cerin E, Milner C, Hill KD. Older people and nature: the benefits of outdoors, parks and nature in light of COVID-19 and beyond– where to from here? Int J Environ Health Res. 2021 Mar 7;1–8.
- 144. Reece LJ, McInerney C, Blazek K, Foley BC, Schmutz L, Bellew B, et al. Reducing financial barriers through the implementation of voucher incentives to promote children's participation in community sport in Australia. BMC Public Health. 2020 Dec;20(1):19.
- 145. Owen KB, Foley BC, Bauman A, Bellew B, Reece LJ. Parental awareness and engagement in the Active Kids program across socioeconomic groups. J Sci Med Sport. 2020 Aug;23(8):753–7.
- 146. Bauman A, Pedisic Z. Physical activity surveillance. In: Getting Australia Active III A systems approach to physical activity for policy makers. The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre and The University of Sydney.; 2020.

- 147. Pedišić Ž, Zhong A, Hardy LL, Salmon J, Okely AD, Chau J. Physical activity prevalence in Australian children and adolescents: Why do different surveys provide so different estimates, and what can we do about it? 2017;11.
- 148. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey 2017-2018. Canberra: ABS;
- 149. Lund C, Brooke-Sumner C, Baingana F, Baron EC, Breuer E, Chandra P, et al. Social determinants of mental disorders and the Sustainable Development Goals: a systematic review of reviews. Lancet Psychiatry. 2018 Apr;5(4):357–69.
- 150. Batterham PJ, Calear AL, McCallum SM, Morse AR, Banfield M, Farrer LM, et al. Trajectories of depression and anxiety symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic in a representative Australian adult cohort. Med J Aust. 2021 Jun;214(10):462–8.
- 151. Productivity Commission. Mental Health, Report no. 95. Canberra; 2020.
- 152. Department of Health. Domestic violence [Internet]. Department of Health; 2019. Available from: https://headtohealth.gov.au/mental-health-difficulties/challengingsituations/domestic-violence
- 153. Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists. The economic cost of serious mental illness and comorbidities in Australia and New Zealand. RANZCP; 2016.
- 154. McEvoy PM, Grove R, Slade T. Epidemiology of Anxiety Disorders in the Australian General Population: Findings of the 2007 Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2011 Nov;45(11):957–67.
- 155. Wickersham A, Sugg HVR, Epstein S, Stewart R, Ford T, Downs J. Systematic Review and Meta-analysis: The Association Between Child and Adolescent Depression and Later Educational Attainment. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2021 Jan;60(1):105–18.
- 156. Kim TJ, von dem Knesebeck O. Perceived job insecurity, unemployment and depressive symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2016 May;89(4):561–73.
- 157. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey 2014-2015 [Internet]. Canberra: ABS; 2015. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/ProductsbyCatalogue/C0A4290EF1E7E7 FDCA257F1E001C0B84?OpenDocument
- 158. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Deaths in Australia. Cat. no. PHE 229. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.
- 159. Lawrence D, Hancock KJ, Kisely S. The gap in life expectancy from preventable physical illness in psychiatric patients in Western Australia: retrospective analysis of population based registers. BMJ. 2013;346(may21 1):f2539–f2539.
- 160. Mai Q, Holman CDJ, Sanfilippo FM, Emery JD, Stewart LM. Do users of mental health services lack access to general practitioner services? Med J Aust. 2010 May;192(9):501–6.
- 161. COAG Health Council. The Fifth National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Plan. 2017 p. 84.

- 162. Rethink Mental Illness. Lethal discrimination: Why people with mental illness are dying needlessly and what needs to change. Rethink Mental Illness; 2013.
- 163. Morgan VA, Waterreus A, Jablensky A, Mackinnon A, McGrath JJ, Carr V, et al. People living with psychotic illness in 2010: The second Australian national survey of psychosis. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2012 Aug;46(8):735–52.
- 164. Killackey E, Allott K, Woodhead G, Connor S, Dragon S, Ring J. Individual placement and support, supported education in young people with mental illness: an exploratory feasibility study: Supported education in mental illness. Early Interv Psychiatry. 2017;11(6):526–31.
- 165. Harris B, Duggan M, Batterham P, Bertlem K, Clinton-McHarg T, Dunbar JA, et al. Australia's Mental and Physical Health Tracker - background paper. Melbourne: Mitchell Institute; 2018 p. 60.
- 166. NSW Ministry of Health. Physical Health Care for People Living with Mental Health Issues. 2021;29.
- 167. Marcías M. Opinion: We need to rethink mental health care and the assumptions we have about what support means. The Washington Post [Internet]. 2021 May 6; Available from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/05/06/reimagine-safety-mental-health/
- 168. National Mental Health Commission. Vision 2030: Blueprint for Mental Health and Suicide Prevention. Canberra: NMHC; 2020.
- 169. Firth J, Siddiqi N, Koyanagi A, Siskind D, Rosenbaum S, Galletly C, et al. The Lancet Psychiatry Commission: a blueprint for protecting physical health in people with mental illness. Lancet Psychiatry. 2019 Aug;6(8):675–712.
- 170. Petrakis M, Stirling Y, Higgins K. Vocational support in mental health service delivery in Australia. Scand J Occup Ther. 2019 Nov 10;26(7):535–45.
- 171. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2016. Canberra: AIHW; 2016.
- 172. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2018. Canberra: AIHW; 2018.
- 173. Department of Health. National Women's Health Strategy 2020-2030. Canberra: Department of Health; p. 59.
- 174. AHPC. Getting Australia's Health on Track: Priority policy actions for a healthier Australia. Melbourne: Mitchell Institute; 2016.
- 175. Dunbar JA, Duggan M, Fetherston H, Knight A, McNamara K, Banks E, et al. Heart Health: the first step to getting Australia's health on track. Melbourne: Victoria University: Australian Health Policy Collaboration; 2017.
- 176. Heart Foundation. National Action Plan for Heart and Stroke [Internet]. Heart Foundation; n/d. Available from: https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/programs/national-action-plan-for-heart-and-stroke

- 177. Sutherland K, Chessman J, Zhao J, Sara G, Went A, Dyson S, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on healthcare activity in NSW, Australia. Public Health Res Pract [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Jul 2];30(4). Available from: https://www.phrp.com.au/?p=39914
- 178. AIHW. Developing a National Primary Health Care Data Asset: Consultation report. Cat. no. PHC 1. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.

179. Robinson E, Nguyen P, Jiang H, Livingston M, Ananthapavan J, Lal A, Sacks G. Increasing the price of alcohol as an obesity prevention measure: The potential costeffectiveness of introducing a uniform volumetric tax and a minimum floor price on alcohol in Australia. Nutrients, 2020; 12(603).

References: Technical paper

- 1. Mc Namara K, Knight A, Livingston M, Kypri K, Malo J, Roberts L, et al. Targets and indicators for chronic disease prevention in Australia technical paper No. 2015-08. Melbourne: Australian Health Policy Collaboration; 2015.
- 2. Mc Namara K, Livingston M, Kypri K, Maple J, Bauman AE, Grimes C, et al. Targets and indicators for chronic disease prevention in Australia, Australian Health Policy Collaboration technical paper No. 2019-01. Melbourne: Mitchell Institute; 2019.
- 3. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey 2017-2018. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2018.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Burden of Disease: Impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2015. 2019 [cited 2021 May 17]; Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/burden-disease-study-illness-death-2015/contents/table-of-contents
- 5. Shiell A, Jackson H. How much does Australia spend on prevention and how would we know whether it is enough? Health Promot J Austral. 2018 Jul;29:7–9.
- 6. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey 2007-08. Canberra: ABS; 2009.
- 7. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey 2018-19. Canberra: ABS; 2019.
- 8. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey: Updated Results, 2012–13 [Internet]. Canberra: ABS; 2014. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/4727.0.55.006
- 9. Land MA, Neal BC, Johnson C, Nowson CA, Margerison C, Petersen KS. Salt consumption by Australian adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medical Journal of Australia. 2018;208(2):75–81.
- 10. Department of Health and Human Services. Victorian Health Monitor report. Melbourne: Department of Health and Human Services; 2012.
- 11. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2019 [Internet]. Canberra: AIHW; 2020 [cited 2021 May 17]. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/illicit-use-of-drugs/national-drug-strategy-household-survey-2019/contents/table-of-contents
- 12. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2010. Canberra: AIHW; 2011.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2013 [Internet]. Canberra, ACT: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2014 [cited 2021 May 31]. Available from: http://www.aihw.gov.au/publicationdetail/?id=60129549469
- 14. Fetherston H, Harris B, Calder R. Australia's Health Tracker Technical Appendix. Australian Health Policy Collaboration, Technical paper no. 3-2019. Mitchell Institute, Victoria University; 2019.

- 15. World Health Organization. More active people for a healthier world: global action plan on physical activity 2018-2030. 2018.
- 16. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey 2014-2015 [Internet]. Canberra: ABS; 2015. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/ProductsbyCatalogue/C0A4290EF1E7E7 FDCA257F1E001C0B84?OpenDocument
- 17. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Physical activity across the life stages. Canberra: AIHW; 2018.
- 18. Australian Bureau of Statistics. NATSIHS. Appendix assessing health risk factors. [Internet]. Canberra: ABS; 2019. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/methodologies/national-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islanderhealth-survey-methodology/2018-19#appendix-assessing-health-risk-factors
- 19. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey 2011–12 (NNPAS). ABS; 2013.
- Killackey E, Allott K, Woodhead G, Connor S, Dragon S, Ring J. Individual placement and support, supported education in young people with mental illness: an exploratory feasibility study: Supported education in mental illness. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2017;11(6):526–31.
- 21. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Health Survey: Updated Results, 2011-13. Canberra: ABS; 2013.
- 22. Fetherston H, Harris B, Calder R. Australia's Health Tracker Technical Appendix. Australian Health Policy Collaboration, Technical Paper no.3-2019 DO NOT KEEP. Mitchell Institute, Victoria University; 2019.
- 23. Adair T, Lopez A. Widening inequalities in premature mortality in Australia, 2006-16. Australian Population Studies. 2020;4(1):37–56.
- 24. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Deaths in Australia. Cat. no. PHE 229. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.



Mitchell Institute for Education and Health Policy 300 Queen Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000 +61 3 9919 1820 info@mitchellinstitute.org.au mitchellinstitute.org.au